1940

W.A. Nielson v. John W. Smith, Albert S.
Wheelwright and Smith Land Co v. M.M. Johnson
: Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A chronological statement of the facts out of which this litigation grew, aside from the findings in each of the cases, we think will do much toward eliminating the utter confusion that exists because of continuous litigation extending over a period of years.

On November 23, 1926, John W. Smith entered into a contract to purchase from M. M. Johnson, receiver of the Nielson-Burton Company, co-partnership, 473.67 acres of land together with 180 shares of the water stock of the Pocatello Pipe Line Company for the sum of \$10,118.78. Nothing was paid on account of the purchase price of the property at the time of the execution of the agreement. The first payment of \$2,000.00 was to be made on or before the 25th day of November, 1927, and \$2,000.00 each year thereafter. The contract is in evidence as Exhibit 3. It contained the usual provisions for the payment of taxes and the insurance of crops produced by the purchaser, and it contained a specific provision for the cultivation of the land, planting to fall wheat and for the application by the purchaser to the Federal Farm Loan Association for a loan upon the property to be paid to the seller and further that:

In the event the buyer shall default in the payment of special or general taxes, assessments or insurance premiums, as provided for, that the seller might pay the taxes and collect from the buyer with interest at the rate of one percent per month; that the buyer should make reports to the seller setting forth in detail the amount of land planted,

And further

“As security for the payment of any installment of the purchase price, any sums due and delinquent from previous years, and/or any sums which may become due from the purchaser of this contract within any particular year, the buyer hereby mortgages to the seller all crops of every kind and nature which shall be grown by him or his successors upon the said land during the year in which such payment or sums shall have become due.” (Exhibit 3—Abs. 75.)

And further

“In the event the purchaser shall fail to make any of said payments, or to perform any of the covenants herein by him agreed to be performed within thirty (30) days after written notice of default and demand for performance of the covenant or covenants as to which it may be claimed he is in default shall have been served upon him by the seller personally, or in the manner provided by law for serving notices, or by letter addressed to him at Ridgedale, Idaho, the seller, at his option, may declare a forfeiture of all of the rights of the purchaser under this agreement, and the seller shall thereupon be released from all obligation in law and equity to convey the said property; and upon such forfeiture being declared all rights of the buyer hereunder, and all and any interest that he may have in the said premises shall immediately cease and terminate, and the said buyer shall become at once a tenant at will of the seller, anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, and the seller may keep and retain all payments theretofore made by the buyer on account of the purchase price as compensation for the use of the said property and as liquidated damages for the

failure of the buyer to fully perform the contract of purchase on his part, and the seller may at his option re-enter and take possession of the said property, without legal process, as in his first and former estate, together with all improvements and additions made by the buyer thereon, including any and all crops growing upon said land at the time of the said election to terminate and forfeit the said contract, and the said additions and improvements and growing crops shall remain with the land and become the property of the seller. It is specifically agreed that time is of the essence of this agreement.” (Abs. 76.)

Smith was constantly in default on the contract. He failed to pay taxes, and the taxes from the beginning accumulated and in order to prevent loss of the property were paid by the seller. On November 25, 1930, an installment of \$2,000.00 came due with accumulated interest at seven percent per annum on the entire amount. The buyer had no means of making this payment by reason of which the contract was not only subject to forfeiture, but forfeiture was inevitable. (Abs. 78-79.)

Smith had been sued by Wilse A. Nielson, the son of A. J. Nielson, one of the partners in the business for which Johnson was made receiver. He had defaulted to the extent of \$1208.91 besides interest in December of 1929. (Exhibit E.) The taxes had not been paid for 1926, 1927 and 1928 and were delinquent for 1924 on part of the ground. The taxes amounted to \$410.79. (Exhibit E.) This amount was bearing interest at one percent per month. In addition to his troubles growing out of delinquencies, which he could not by any possibility cure,

three different judgments had been entered against him between September 12, 1929, and May 22, 1930. He had exhausted his credit at the banks and with relatives and it therefore became certain that if Johnson, the receiver, should so elect, the contract was at an end. (Abs. 82-83-89.)

Furthermore Smith's equipment was not such that he could cultivate the land economically and hope to be able to make enough money from the land to take up delinquencies and pay the contract out. His son, Cameron Smith, had credit sufficient to enable him to borrow \$1,000.00 from the bank and this he used to pay on the contract. He also had a new tractor which had cost him \$1500.00 and he was willing to transfer it so as to save the contract. (Abs. 82, 90.)

At that time, Smith had residing with him a dependent daughter and was entitled to a homestead exemption of \$2300.00. (Abs. 101.)

He and his sons and his daughters thereupon organized the Smith Land Company and by assignment transferred to the corporation the contract for the purchase of the land, the corporation assuming the balance due upon the contract. Cameron Smith was given credit for the \$1,000.00 paid to keep the contract alive. In addition to the contract there was transferred to the corporation the caterpillar tractor of a value of \$1500.00 and horses and farm equipment then on the place. (Abs. 67.) The caterpillar tractor was used to plow and cultivate the land and to harvest the crops. Cameron Smith, for the most part, operated the tractor and combine harvester and

plows. Stock of the corporation was issued to various members of the family and stock of the par value of \$2800.00 out of an authorized capital of \$10,000.00 was issued to John Smith as trustee which he testified was intended to be used to pay creditors including the plaintiff and his assignor in this case. The uncontradicted testimony is that John W. Smith was indebted to his daughter and to his mother and brothers for money borrowed in attempting to save the contract. (Abs. 82.) His testimony is that he offered to issue stock of the corporation to plaintiff and his assignor and that they refused to accept it. (Abs. 79.) Payments upon the contract were made by the corporation between November 28, 1930, and November 29, 1932. (Exhibit 9.)

And on November 29, 1932, Charles D. Moore, who was then proposing to acquire title to the land and contract asked Smith, the Smith Land Company and Careron Smith to agree that if he acquired the contract that a new contract would be made by the terms of which the balance due would be fixed at \$4,000.00 payable in installments, \$1,000.00 cash and \$1,000.00 annually thereafter with eight percent interest. The agreement included the Smith Land Company, John W. Smith and J. Cameron Smith. A new form of contract was not executed but the proposal adopted the terms of the original contract and clearly recognized the interest of the Smith Land Company in and to it. (Abs. 59.) Numerous letters were addressed to the Smith Land Company by Charles D. Moore as owner of the land and the contract. He, at all times, recognized the Smith Land Company as a corporation

and as the owner of the contract. (See letters and receipt. Exhibit 9.)

On the 16th day of August, 1930, Bertha Skeen, a judgment creditor represented by her husband, D. A. Skeen caused execution to be issued out of the office of the clerk of the district court for Box Elder County and the sheriff, by praecipe was directed, to levy upon the defendants' property:

“To the Sheriff of Box Elder County:

You will please proceed to levy upon any property either real or personal which you may locate belonging to the defendants in Box Elder County, State of Utah, and advertise the same for sale pursuant to the execution and levy as soon as you may do so.”

D. A. Skeen
Attorney for Plaintiff” (Abs. 114.)

On December 3, 1930, a return was attached to the execution and deposited in the office of the sheriff. The execution was handled by Joseph R. Olsen, a deputy who thereafter died. There was attached to the execution as an exhibit the following letter.

To John Zundell:

“Dear Sir:

John W. Smith has requested me to advise you that he has no money or property out of which the execution you hold against him might be satisfied. The property he occupies was purchased on contract and title reserved to both the land and the crops, any equity he might have had was sold some time ago.

Respectfully,
J. D. Skeen” (Abs. 113.)

The execution with the return and the exhibit with an additional notation by John H. Zundel, Sheriff to the effect that the matter was handled by Joseph R. Olsen, who was deceased, was filed June 26, 1937. (Abs. 114-115.)

The complaint in this case alleges the issuance of the execution and its return unsatisfied. (Abs. 2.)

On December 7, 1936, Wilse A. Nielson, the plaintiff herein, having become the owner and holder of the legal title to the land covered by the contract and of the contract, served notice of forfeiture of the contract for failure to pay the balance due upon the purchase price of the property amounting to the sum of \$2433.88. The notice specifies seven particulars wherein the purchaser was in default and by virtue of which the forfeiture was to be made. (Abs. 61.)

Immediately thereafter, the Smith Land Company procured part of the necessary money to make the payment from the sale of wheat and borrowed \$1900.00 from the wife of John W. Smith, made tender of the total balance due, and demanded a deed which the plaintiff Nielson refused. Suit was brought in Salt Lake County by the Smith Land Company for specific performance. (Abs. 87.) Wilse A. Nielson had brought suit July 9, 1935, and the two suits were consolidated by stipulation and were brought on for trial.

On October 10, 1935, John W. Smith was adjudged a voluntary bankrupt. He scheduled as debts: To Bertha Skeen, a judgment creditor \$100.00; to Wilse A. Nielson,

judgment creditor, \$54.90, and to Wilse A. Nielson, Judgment creditor, \$1278.00. As assets he scheduled a library of 1200 books of a value of \$500.00, five hundred shares of the capital stock of Smith Land Company pledged to Andrew W. Smith and a life insurance policy.

The record of the bankruptcy court shows a petition for confirmation of a sale of the land described in the complaint herein, an order confirming a sale to A. F. Turley for the sum of \$500.00 and a deed from the trustee in bankruptcy to A. F. Turley purporting to convey all of the Smith assets to Turley. (Abs. 44.)

The deed purporting to convey the title, dated April 14, 1937, from Albert S. Wheelwright, trustee to Aubrey F. Turley specifies all the right, title and interest in and to the following described property. Then follows description of the property covered by the contract from M. M. Johnson, receiver, to John W. Smith. (Exhibit B.)

On February 4, 1939, the district court made and entered an order reading:

“It is now ordered that Aubrey F. Turley be and he hereby is substituted herein for Albert S. Wheelwright, Trustee in Bankruptcy of John W. Smith, a bankrupt and as such substitute is hereby made a party to this action with all rights and liabilities accruing to him as such substituted party.” Dated this 4th, 1939. Filed April 4, 1939. (Abs. 116.)

A petition for review of the order of sale in the bankruptcy court was filed in the United States District Court for the District of Utah and the court is now holding the matter under advisement.

Separate findings were made in the two cases. In the Box Elder County case, the court found the execution and delivery of the contract and that at the time of the trial of the case, there was \$2433.88 due on the purchase price of the land. (Abs. 116-131.) There is no finding as to the amount due at the time of the assignment of the contract, on October 30, 1930. The court further found that John W. Smith on or about the 30th day of October, 1930, caused the Smith Land Company to be incorporated and transferred to it all of his property including the contract and that it was the *alter ego* of the said John W. Smith, that the transfer of stock to members of his family was wholly without consideration, except as to the stock transferred to J. Cameron Smith in the amount of \$1,000.00 and that Cameron Smith turned over to the association a tractor; that the organization of the Smith Land Company was a contrivance to evade and avoid the payment of his creditors; that it was made with intent to defraud his creditors; that Smith had continued to operate through and in the name of the Smith Land Company; that John W. Smith, on the 30th day of October, 1930, was not married, but was the head of a family having one married daughter and two minor children living with him and dependent upon him for support and maintenance; that he was entitled to a homestead exemption of \$2300.00:

“That at the time of the transfer of the said property and the contracts covering the purchase of the same and all rights thereunder by John W. Smith to Smith Land Company, the said property was of a

value of \$30.00 per acre and the equity and interest of the said John W. Smith in said land at said time was of a value far in excess of \$2300.00. And at the time of the trial of this action, the said property so held under the contract to purchase thereof and the equity of the said purchaser and his successors in interest under said contract was of a value far in excess of \$2300.00 over and above the balance of the purchase price and all liens against said property.” (Abs. 123.)

That the organization of the Smith Land Company and the transfer of the property was made more than three years prior to the filing of the action:

“ . . . but the said transfer was not recorded with the County Recorder of Box Elder County, or at all, and the facts and circumstances connected with the said transfer were not called to the attention of the plaintiff and his assignor of said judgment or either of them, and the plaintiff and his said assignor of said judgment did not know of the said transfer and did not have knowledge of facts sufficient to charge them or either of them with knowledge of such transfer until within three years prior to the filing of this action or until within one year before the 11th day of July, 1935.” (Abs. 123.)

The court finds the entries of the judgments as hereinabove stated, the filing of a voluntary bankruptcy proceeding, the contents of the schedules, that John Smith acting through the Smith Land Company on July 1, 1938, deposited with the clerk of the district court of Salt Lake County \$2433.88. That at the time of the filing of the petition in bankruptcy the property and interest of John W. Smith therein constituted an asset and that it passed to

the trustee in bankruptcy and then the court finds that in the bankruptcy proceeding all the interest of Albert S. Wheelwright as trustee was sold to Aubrey F. Turley subject only to the homestead exemption of John W. Smith and the court further finds:

“That in the courts of the bankruptcy proceeding, costs expenses of administration accrued in said bankruptcy proceeding. That no funds have been provided by the said bankrupt to pay the said costs and expenses. That the only asset of the said bankrupt out of which the trustee may pay the said cost and expenses and the said judgments of Wilse A. Nielson as set out in the findings herein, is the property described in these findings.” (Abs. 128.)

From the findings the court concludes that the transfer of John W. Smith to the Smith Land Company of his interest in the property was fraudulent.

“That the intervenor, Albert S. Wheelwright, is entitled to a judgment adjudging, determining and fixing a lien upon the said property in these conclusions described, and the whole thereof, for the total amount of the said judgments as entered, with costs and interest accruing thereon to April 1, 1939, and for the full amount of the expenses of administration of the said bankruptcy proceeding in said bankruptcy court as fixed and determined therein, the said judgments alone as set out in the findings herein, with interest and costs accruing to April 1, 1939, being in the amount of \$2529.36.” (Abs. 130.)

The court entered the decree adjudging and decreeing the transfer void over and above a homestead exemption to the extent of \$2300.00.

“That upon the payment by the Smith Land Company to W. A. Nielson of the sum of \$2433.88, as the balance of the purchase price due on said property, the intervenor, Albert S. Wheelwright is entitled to a judgment and decree and an order of sale of said property to satisfy the said liens in full, together with the costs and expenses of such sale.” (Abs. 131.)

In the Salt Lake County case, the court made substantially the same findings many of which were not in issue, drew substantially the same conclusions and entered a decree to the effect that the assignment of John W. Smith was void; that the defendant, Wilse A. Nielson, execute and deliver to John W. Smith and the Smith Land Company, a corporation, a deed of conveyance and transfer to them a certificate of stock for 180 shares and upon the execution and delivery of such a deed and stock that the clerk of the court pay to the said Wilse A. Nielson \$2433.88 theretofore deposited by the Smith Land Company with the clerk of the court as a tender of the balance due on the contract. John W. Smith was not a party to the Salt Lake City suit. (Abs. 135-152.)

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

The assignment of errors are long and numerous comprising 40 in all and covering 11½ pages of the abstract. We will not reprint them but will summarize the specific points upon which we rely for the reversal of this case. The points are all covered by the assignments as follows:

1. The homestead exemption was pleaded and found without controversy. It did not constitute the subject matter of a conveyance in fraud of creditors because it was not and is not subject to a judgment lien, execution or forced sale. The contract was subject to forfeiture at the time of the assignment, long prior thereto and substantially all of the time subsequent thereto and until the tender of the balance due was made just before the institution of the Salt Lake case, and there is no finding that said contract was of a value in excess of \$2300.00. (Box Elder Case Assignments Numbers 1, 6, 15, 16, 18. Salt Lake Case Assignments Numbers 1, 6, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17.)

2. The corporation was recognized by plaintiff, Wilse A. Nielson and his predecessors in interest as a valid legally organized corporation as early as November, 1930, and at all times thereafter until tender by it of the \$2433.88 balance due on the contract, and plaintiff in the Box Elder County case and defendants in the Salt Lake County case are now estopped from denying the existence of the corporation and the ownership of the contract. (Box Elder Case Assignments Numbers 3, 12, 13. Salt Lake Case 1, 3, 4, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19.)

3. The Statute of Limitations ran two years before the institution of the Box Elder County suit and the cause of action, if one ever existed, was barred at the time the suit was brought. (Box Elder case Assignments Numbers 7, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17. Salt Lake case Assignments Numbers 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 19.)

4. The court was without jurisdiction to enter any

judgment in favor of the intervenor, Albert S. Wheelwright for the reason as alleged that the United States Bankruptcy Court had confirmed a sale of the interest of the said trustee in and to said property, a deed of conveyance of the interest had been made and the purchaser, and Aubrey F. Turley was substituted as a party to the suit for the said trustee. (Box Elder Case Assignments Nos. 8, 9, 14, 16. Salt Lake Case Nos. 14, 18, 20.)

5. The court had no jurisdiction to enter any judgment based upon an order of the Bankruptcy Court, and the provision including in the judgment the costs and expenses alleged to have been taxed in the Bankruptcy Court were wholly without jurisdiction and void. (Box Elder case Assignments Nos. 8, 9, 14, 16. Salt Lake Case Nos. 19, 20.)

6. The judgment is not sustained by the evidence or by the findings. (Box Elder case, Assignments Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 10, 16, 17. Salt Lake Case Assignments Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, 12, 13, 14, 16 17.)

HOMESTEAD EXEMPTION

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