1940

W.A. Nielson v. John W. Smith, Albert S.
Wheelwright and Smith Land Co v. M.M. Johnson
: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Twenty-two assignments of error are printed in the appellants' abstract. In the brief, appellants discuss only part of these assignments of error and group them under five separate heads. Under the rule of this Court, we assume that all assignments of error not included in the argument in appellants' brief are waived and we shall give no attention to them.

The fundamental question presented by this appeal is the effect of a transfer by an insolvent debtor of all of his property to a corporation, organized by him where he takes in exchange all of its stock, as against the rights of existing creditors.

PLAINTIFFS' BRIEF

The cases on this subject are rather numerous, and the majority of them hold, with very little qualification, that where a debtor transfers his property to a corporation in consideration of the stock of the corporation, and receives no other consideration for the transfer except the stock of the corporation, the transfer may be considered as fraudulent and may be set aside or the property reached in the

hands of the corporation by the creditors of the debtor so making the transfer.

A leading case on the subject, and a well considered case, is the case of

First National Bank v. F. C. Trebein Company, an Ohio case reported in 52 N.E. 834.

In that case Trebein formed a corporation which was called the F. C. Trebein Company. Prior to the forming of this corporation, Trebein had been carrying on a business of buying, selling and milling grain, and in that business he owned two or three mills, elevators, considerable real estate and water rights and capital stocks and other personal property. His personal financial affairs came to be somewhat involved and he learned that he was going to become further liable on outstanding notes which he had endorsed personally for another company. This condition existed in the latter part of the year 1894. In December of 1894 and January of 1895, Trebein conveyed real and personal property to his wife to the value of over \$40,000.00, claiming it was in part payment of a prior indebtedness due to the wife. He also transferred real estate of the value of \$2100.00 to his daughter, claiming it was a fulfillment of a promise of a wedding gift he had made some six months previous. He also pledged a large amount of corporate stocks to his wife as collateral for a balance of \$8700.00 which he claimed was due her over and above the \$40,000.00. The transfer of such property to his wife and daughter was not involved in the particular case reported, the Court merely stating that another action was pending with regard to those transfers. After such transfers the defendant, Tre-

bein, owned real estate and milling property worth somewhere in the neighborhood of \$60,000. On January 22, 1895, he formed a corporation, incorporated for \$60,000, with 600 shares of a par value of \$100.00 each, and conveyed all of his property to the corporation except that which he had previously transferred to his wife and daughter. There was some question whether the property transferred to the corporation was actually worth \$60,000.00 or not, but no point was made of that by the court. Of the 600 shares issued upon the incorporation of the F. C. Trebein Company, Trebein himself took 596 shares. One share each was issued to his wife, his daughter, a son-in-law and a brother-in-law, each of whom paid \$90.00 a share for the one share of stock delivered to them. Of the 596 shares issued to Trebein, he retained one share and pledged the balance to three banks as security for notes covering obligations which the banks had previously held against him.

The same contention was made in that case as was made by the defendant, John W. Smith, in this case; that is, that his sole intent and purpose in forming the corporation was to try and protect his creditors, and he attempted to prove his point by showing that he had pledged practically all of the stock to his creditors on their obligations. The same argument was made by John W. Smith in this case, claiming that he gave stock to some of his creditors, who were members of his family, and offered stock to the plaintiff, Nielson, the only other creditor still holding obligations against him.

The Ohio Supreme Court held that, regardless of the fact as to whether he had really intended to ultimately pay his creditors out by means of the

stock or otherwise, the transfer operated to hinder and delay the creditors and the Court said that it was —

“clearly satisfied that the conveyance by Trebein of his property to the corporation was made to hinder and delay creditors, and should have been so declared by the (trial) court and ordered administered for the benefit of all his creditors, . . .”

The trial court had considered that Trebein had acted in good faith and gave judgment in his favor. The Supreme Court reversed the trial court, saying:

“. . . The court found that this was all done in good faith. But, in view of the facts, we are unable to see how the court could have meant more than that he meant no wrong by it. Good faith in law, however, is not to be measured always by a man's own standard of right, but by that which it has adopted and prescribed as a standard for the observance of all men in their dealings with each other. When one conveys all his property to another with the intention of hindering and delaying his creditors, or a part of them, in pursuing their legal remedies against him and his property, his conduct in law is deemed fraudulent, however honestly he may have intended to deal with all his creditors in the future.”

The Supreme Court of Minnesota, in

Benton v. Minneapolis Tailg. & Mfg. Co.,
76 N.W. 265, said:

“We have already stated his financial condition and that his indebtedness largely exceeded his assets. He must have in-

tended the necessary consequences of his own acts. He transferred nearly all of the goods found in his wholesale store, and all of the fixtures therein contained, available personal property and about all he had, and he closed out the business previously carried on, and accepted as full payment stock shares in a corporation which was nothing but an experiment and which shares had no market value whatsoever. He converted his available personal property into that which was much less available for the payment of his indebtedness; and the transaction had a direct and immediate tendency to hinder, delay and defraud his creditors. Further than this, it was admitted that, of the stock issued to McLeod, in payment of the property, he immediately turned over shares of the par value of \$5,000 in payment of a note for the amount held against him by his mother-in-law, Mrs. Pratt and that soon afterwards he pledged the balance of his shares — par value \$4,600.00 — with defendant Ellison as security for a loan of \$1500.00 made by the latter to him. . . . That he pledged shares having a par value of more than three times the amount of money borrowed and that Ellison required such a pledge, indicate quite clearly that these gentlemen did not have a very exalted opinion of the real value of shares in defendant corporation. Taking into consideration all of the circumstances as they were shown on the trial . . . it is very plain that McLeod and Pratt, at least, entered into a conspiracy to hinder, delay and defraud McLeod's creditors, organ-

ized the corporation, having that intent and purpose in mind, and then to complete and consummate the fraud caused the goods and fixtures to be transferred to it, and the stock shares to be issued in pretended payment. These facts justified the finding on which was rested the order for judgment against McLeod, Pratt and the corporation."

In the case at bar John W. Smith transferred every vestige of property of every nature which he had, including his horses, cows, farm tools, and everything, the same as McLeod had transferred his furniture and fixtures previously used in his tailoring business. John W. Smith continued to live upon and occupy the property as his home, the same as he had done previous to the forming of the corporation, just as McLeod after the forming of his corporation continued to do his tailoring business in the Minneapolis store he had operated previously. The only conclusion that can possibly be reached in the case at bar is that the defendant Smith did a farming business prior to the incorporation and, after the formation of the Smith Land Company, John W. Smith continued to do the farming business the same as he had done before. It was simply John W. Smith doing the same business after having attempted to put on a new coat. That this is true is further emphatically borne out by the fact that in Smith's own testimony he stated that he was heavily indebted, his creditors were pressing him, and he could not go on, and that he formed the corporation to enable him to go on and work out. It is further borne out by the fact that immediately after the forming of the corporation, he allowed its charter to be forfeited for non-

payment of the franchise tax. This testimony is very clear and shows, beyond any doubt, that Smith's only purpose in forming a corporation was to hinder, delay and defraud his creditors in the collection of their just claims.

Another case which is very instructive on the points in issue, is the case of

Matchan v. Phoenix Land Investment Company, 198 N.W. 417.

The judgment of the trial court was affirmed by the Supreme Court, which stated:

"Where a corporation has been organized and used as an instrument of fraud; *where as here, an individual has incorporated himself in order to hinder and, if possible defraud creditors, courts will go as far as necessary in disregarding the corporation and its doings in order to accomplish justice.* Such a corporation is a mere parasitic growth, a mass of fungus, which will be lopped off clean whenever necessary to sound results. }

"The fraudulent organizer of a corporation, intending to conceal his property from his creditors, cannot disinfect and immunize his work by admitting to its expected benefits one or more favored ones among his creditors. *The corporation does not rid itself of guilt or its results simply by admitting one or more innocent stockholders. That would indeed be an easy and convenient method of perpetrating fraud. It is not permissible on any ground. Wrongdoers cannot escape justice simply because their associates are not all bad.*"
(Italics ours).

We direct the attention of the Court, without further comment, to the following cases:

Colo. Trading Co. v. Acres Comm. Co., 70 Pac. 954.

Kellogg v. Douglas County Bank, 48 Pac. 587.

National Bank v. Havens, 156 Atl. 645.

Harris v. First National Bank, 149 Southern 86.

Lawton v. Allard Realty Co., 168 Southern 768.

Alliance Trust Co. v. Streater, 161 Southern 168.

Pittsmond Copper Co. v. O'Rourke, 141 Pac. 849.

Bennett v. Minott, 44 Pac. 288.

Paxton v. Paxton, 15 P. (2d) 1051; 80 Utah 540.

Zuniga v. Evans, 48 P. (2d) 513; 85 A.L.R. 133; 87 Utah 198.

Johnson v. Cook, 146 N.W. 343 (Michigan).

Bourgeois v. Risley Real Estate Company 88 Atl. 199 (New Jersey).

Shapiro v. Wilgus, 287 U.S. 348; 77 L. Ed. 355.

Planters & Miners Bank v. Willeo Cotton Mills, 60 Ga. 169.

Kurran v. Rothschild, 60 Pac. 1111.

Buell v. Rope, 39 N.Y. Sup. 475.

We shall next discuss the homestead exemption. The courts generally have gone to the full extent in recognizing and protecting the homestead

exemption granted by the Constitution and the statutory proceeding for working it out.

We assert at the outset that the court here in this decree has given proper consideration and protection to whatever homestead rights exist. In order to get clearly before us the manner in which this question is presented, it is necessary to refer back briefly to the facts and the findings.

~~There can be no claim that notice was given by recording the articles, by analogy to our recording statutes.~~

~~Sections 78-1-6 and 78-3-2, Revised Statutes of 1933,~~

~~because these sections refer to conveyance of real estate which, when acknowledged and recorded, impart notice and provide that "subsequent purchasers, mortgagees and lien holders shall be deemed to purchase and take with notice."~~

The action was originally brought as a bill in equity to set aside the transfer as fraudulent and void.

When the defendant, John W. Smith filed his petition in bankruptcy and the adjudication was made and the intervenor, Albert S. Wheelwright, was appointed trustee, Wilse A. Nielson ceased to be an actor in that proceeding. All property rights of the bankrupt passed to the Trustee in Bankruptcy. For a full discussion of the rights of a trustee in bankruptcy in such case we direct the Court to a consideration of

Farkas v. Katz, 54 Fed. (2d) 1061:

"By the challenged transfer, the bankrupt reserved a substantial benefit to himself; the transfer resulting in his retaining complete control of the transferred assets

and the beneficial ownership of a 98 per cent interest in them. *A necessary effect of the transfer was to hinder or delay creditors by putting the transferred assets beyond the reach of legal process in their favor.* The bankrupt is presumed to have intended the necessary or ordinary consequences of his intentional act. The transaction being in substance a transfer by the bankrupt to himself of substantially all his assets, and it being presumed that the bankrupt and the corporation dominated by himself intended to hinder or delay the former's creditors, the conclusion follows that the transfer was fraudulent and voidable at the instance of a creditor who did not consent to it or of the trustee in bankruptcy when he is appointed.

J. I. Kelley Co. v. Pollock & Bernheimer,
57 Fla 459; 49 So. 934; 131 Am. St.
Rep. 1101.

First Nat. Bank v. F. C. Trebein Co., 59
Ohio St. 316; 52 N.E. 834.
13 R.C.L. 480, 543 . . .”

Also

Volume I, Fletcher Cyc. Corporation Perm.
Edition, page 166, paragraph 44:

“Instances abound where fraudulent transfers to the hindrance of corporate creditors were set aside or held invalid, some to fabricated or controlling corporations, on the strength of this general principle (discussing the proposition that courts will disregard the corporate entity where necessary to prevent fraud). . . . Thus where a corporation is organized or maintained as a device in order to evade an outstanding

legal or equitable obligation, the courts, even without reference to actual fraud, refuse to regard it as a corporate entity." Citing numerous cases.

In this same volume at page 48 of the Supplement, are gathered numerous cases and reference is made to an interesting article on this subject in 32 Michigan Law Review, at page 551.

We quote the following from the Supplement:

"Corporation formed to defraud creditors. 'Where the corporate form is used by an individual for the purpose of evading the law, or for the perpetration of a fraud, courts will not permit the legal entity to be interposed so as to defeat justice.' Trachman v. Trachman, 117 N. J. Eq. 167; 175 Atl. 147."

The following cases consider the rules as to ignoring the corporate entity under such circumstances.

Isaacson v. Union Trust Company, 275 Pac. 529.

Adams v. Morgan, 52 Pac. (2d) 643.

Mosier v. Lee, 261 Pac. 35.

Security Warehouse Company v. Hand, 206 U.S. 415; 51 L. Ed. 1117.

Brown v. Kossove et al, 255 Federal 806.

Childs v. Stees, 293 Federal 826.

The bankrupt failed and refused to schedule this property or any interest in it and *failed* and *refused* to claim in his schedules any homestead exemption in the property. Under the authorities, he thereby waived the homestead right entire-

ly. We direct the Court's attention to the following:

7 Corpus Juris, page 357, Section 627:

"(627) 9. Claim of Exemption — a. Necessity for. The bankrupt must affirmatively claim his exemptions in order to be entitled thereto in the bankruptcy proceedings." Citing cases.

In re Webb, 219 Federal 349.

In re Barklaw, 282 Federal 892.

In re Moran, 105 Federal, 901:

"Const. Va., Art. 11, Sec. 1, relating to homestead exemptions, provides that every householder or head of a family, 'shall be entitled . . . to hold exempt from levy,' etc., property, real or personal, not exceeding in value \$2,000. HELD, that such provision merely gives the debtor a privilege of exemption, and does not create an absolute exemption of any particular property, which will prevent the title to such property from vesting in the debtor's trustee in bankruptcy, under Bkr. Act 1898, Sec. 70a, where the exemption is not claimed in his schedules."

In re Baughman, 183 Fed. 668.

In re Friedrich, 100 Fed. 284.

Notwithstanding this, however, after Nielson had, in effect, ceased to be the plaintiff and all rights had passed to Albert S. Wheelwright, the trustee, the defendant, John W. Smith, pleaded his homestead exemption right in this action, and presented evidence to the effect that by reason of a dependent daughter living with him, he was the head of a

excess of the homestead amount, was wholly immaterial on the trial of this case.

We direct the Court's attention to the case of
Crosby v. Anderson, 49 Utah 167; 162
Pac. 75.

The Court said, at page 173:

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